CiNQQN

Cinegy Player PRO 2

© Cinegy GmbH

Document version: 38691e3

Table of Contents

Preface	
Jser Manual	
1. Introduction	
1.1. Overview	
Supported File Formats	
1.2. Installation	
1.3. License Management 9	
2. Handling Cinegy Player PRO	
2.1. Interface	
2.2. Opening Footages	
Opening a Video File	
Opening a URL	
Opening a Container	
Unavailable Footage	
2.3. Controlling Playback	
Playback Control Using Mouse	
Playback Control Using the Keyboard	
Selecting the Tracks for Playback	
2.4. Audio VU Meter	
2.5. Working with Timecodes	
Understanding the Timecode of the System Events	
Using Timecode to Find a Frame	
2.6. Start / End Clip Hints	
2.7. Aspect and Video Image Size	
Aspect Ratio Changing	
Video Image Size Changing	
2.8. Export	
MCRItem XML	
BXF Media Update	
2.9. Media Information 31	
2.10. Analyzing MXF	
2.11. VANC Data Display	
2.12. Closed Captioning	
2.13. Preferences	
3. About Cinegy Player PRO	
3.1. About Cinegy Player PRO	
4. Shortcuts	
Cinegy Player PRO REST API (PDF)	
5. The Cinegy Player PRO REST API manual in PDF:	

Preface

Cinegy Player PRO is a new tool for broadcast professionals that demand outstanding quality, precision and playback performance while working with high-end video formats. Cinegy Player PRO includes native support for most broadcast industry standard video codecs within the two most common containers – MOV and MXF. Whether playing files locally or across the network Cinegy Player PRO performance is beyond anything available on the market so far, which comes as no surprise as the same underlying technology powers Cinegy video server and video production and workflow solutions.



User Manual

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1. Overview

Cinegy Player PRO is a standalone tool for viewing popular broadcast files in a professional interface, using the same industry leading technology that underpins all other Cinegy products.

Cinegy Player PRO performs variety of actions. It provides an easy-to-use interface to play video files, view media information, set timecodes, control video and audio playback or override aspect ratios, to name just a few features.

Cinegy Player PRO implements frame accurate, high performance video playback and scrubbing with professional audio VU meters. The player supports embedded timecode with MXF metadata display, and for your convenience it has standard keyboard shortcuts and an intuitive drag-and-drop user interface, which makes the use of Cinegy Player PRO easy and familiar.

Supported File Formats

Using Cinegy Player PRO saves you the trouble of using any other playback tools or applications, as it supports a wide range of file formats:

Format	Description				
MP3, WAV, M4A	Audio-only files.				
AVI	Uncompressed or compressed AVI playback depending on machine-local installed AVI codecs.				
MXF)P-Atom (e.g. Panasonic P2) or OP1A (e.g. XDCAM) with specific Application Specification (AS) support for AS-03 (MXF for delivery) and AS-11 (MXF for contribution). MXF playback supports the ollowing codecs: AVC-Intra 50/100, DV, DVCPro50, DVCPro HD, generic H.264, generic MPEG-2 ong GOP or I-Frame, IMX30/40/50, Sony XDCAM, XDCAM EX, XDCAM HD, XDCAM HD422, etc.				
MOV	AVC-Intra 100, DV, DVCPro50, DVCPro HD, generic H.264, IMX30/40/50, XDCAM HD422, Apple ProRes 422. MOV files are played with Cinegy Player PRO without any Apple QuickTime components installed. Image: Component installed Image: Component installed				
MP4	MP4 files with generic H.264 inside.				
MPEG-2	MPEG-2 Program Streams (PS).				
MCRItem	MCR items – clips or comprehensive Sequences with titles, effects, pictures and voice-overs inside.				
RTP / UDP	Video stream playback from a URL.				

1.2. Installation

To install Cinegy Player Pro on your computer open the "Cinegy Player PRO" folder and run the Setup.exe file. The setup wizard will be launched:

Cinegy Player PRO

You must accept the License terms and conditions before you can install Cinegy Player PRO.

Cinegy End-User License Agreement (EULA)
Please read the following license agreement carefully before installation. By opening the packet(s) containing the software or by installing the aforementioned software, you indicate your acceptance of the provisions of this license agreement.
Terms Cinegy GmbH (Cinegy) is the owner or Licensor of the intellectual property (the Software) which it licenses under the conditions set below to the end-user (the Licensee).
Licensing With the purchase of the Software Cinegy grants the Licensee the license to use one copy of the Software on any single computer provided the Software is in use on only one computer at any time (floating license) or on one explicitly named, registered machine (machine license). In case of subscription or rental, Cinegy shall grant a limited license for the period of the rental or subscription agreement. The Licensee will only use the Software within the framework of the license or licenses applied for. If the Licensee contravenes the EULA, Cinegy has the right to withdraw from the contract and to demand compensation. If the Licensee uses the software more extensively than agreed, the Licensee must pay Cinegy for actual use according to the current price list. Further claims of behalf of Cinegy remain unaffected by this provision.
Manuals The manuals enclosed in the nackages are also an integral part of this license agreement. The I accept the License terms and conditions
Cancel Next

Read the License agreement and check the box to accept its terms. Press "Next" to proceed with the installation process.

All the package components are listed in the following dialog:



Cinegy Player PRO installer contains the Cinegy License Manager application for viewing and managing licenses.

Install

Installation of each Cinegy Player PRO component is enabled by default and is indicated by the "Install" option next to the component name.

Skip

Select the "Skip" option next to the relevant component to disable its installation.

The default installation directory, which is indicated underneath the package component name, can be changed by clicking the path and browsing for an existing folder in the "Browse for folder" dialog that appears:

Cinegy Player PRO		
Cinegy Player PRO		
Cinegy Player PRO Cinegy Player PRO <u>C:\Program Files\Cinegy\Cinegy Player PRO</u>	İnstall İnstall pack	Skip age 2.0.44.581
Cinegy License Manager Cinegy License Manager is a tool for managing serial numl	bers	Skip
not using hardware licensing dongles. <u>C:\Program Files\Cinegy\Cinegy License Manager</u>	^{ien} Install pack	age 1.0.36,456
Back	Cancel	Next

Press the "Next" button to proceed with installation.

Check your system validation in the following dialog:

				-
(Ineau/	 101	vor.	 68	
CILICUY			ШN	\sim

Cinegy Player PRO			
System validation Pending system reboot Check for other installations running Operating System Version			 ✓ ✓ ✓
Refresh			
	Back	Cancel	Next



The green tick indicates that the system resources are ready and no other processes may prevent the installation. Clicking the validation entry field displays its detailed information:

Pending system reboot

There is no system reboot pending.





Your operating system 'Microsoft Windows 10 Pro 64 Bit' is supported.

×

If any validation reveals that installation cannot be started, the red cross is displayed with the detailed information on the reason of validation failure:

Cinegy Player PRO Cinegy Player PRO System validation Pending system reboot Check for other installations running **Operating System Version** Pending system reboot A system reboot is pending. Please restart your system before you continue with the installation. Refresh Reboot system Back Cancel

E

Refresh

The explanation differs depending on the reason why the installation cannot be proceeded.

Press the "Refresh" button for the system to recheck installation availability. Once the reason of prevention is excluded, you can proceed with installation.

Pressing the "Next" button will begin the installation.

The progress bar indicates the progress of the installation process.

The following dialog informs that installation is completed successfully:

Cinegy Player PRO



Player

After the installation, the Cinegy Player PRO icon appears on your Desktop. Double-click it to start the application.

1.3. License Management

Cinegy Player PRO installer contains the Cinegy License Manager application serving as a tool for managing serial numbers used by Cinegy Player PRO 2 (and other Cinegy software) when not using hardware licensing dongles. Cinegy License Service is installed as a Windows Service:

🔍 Services					_	. 🗆	×
File Action View Help							
۰ ای 🛐 🖨 🍳 🕞 🔽 🕨	■ 11 1▶						
Services (Local)	🔍 Services (Local)	-					
	Cinegy License Service (11.3.33245)	Name	Description	Status	Startup Type	Log On As	^
		🆏 Cinegy Capture Archive Adapter	Cinegy Cap		Manual	Local Syster	m
	Stop the service	🆏 Cinegy Capture Planner Host	Cinegy Cap	Running	Automatic	Local Syster	m
	Trestore the service	Cinegy Convert Watch Service	Bridge servi	Running	Automatic (D	Local System	m
		Cinegy License Service (11.3.33245)		Running	Automatic	Local System	m
		Cinegy Process Coordination Service	Cinegy Proc		Automatic	Local Syster	m
		🍓 Cinegy Time Manager Logging Service		Running	Automatic (D	Local Syster	m
		🍓 Cinegy Time Manager Synchronization Service		Running	Automatic (D	Local Syster	m
		Cinegy.TrafficGatewayService(4.0.255.12285)	TrafficGate		Manual	Local Syster	m
		Client License Service (ClipSVC)	Provides inf		Manual (Trig	Local Syster	m
		🖾 CNG Kev Isolation	The CNG ke	Runnina	Manual (Trig	Local System	m_ ≚
		s					>
	Extended Standard						

Manager

To open the application, double-click the Cinegy License Manager icon available on your Windows desktop.

Cinegy License Service is only required for using a hardware USB license dongle and can be downloaded separately from the **Cinegy portal**.

When launched for the first time, the application looks as follows displaying no licenses installed:

Cinegy Lic	ense	e Manager 1.0.32.441				_ 🗆 ×
Installed Li	cens	es				
Name	Ţ	Licensee	Serial Number		Expiry T	Offline Days
	De	tails		Refresh		Add license

Add license

Press the "Add license" button to register a software license on the current machine. The following dialog box appears:

Lice	ense Add	_ 🗆 ×
Er	nter below the serial number you wish to register to this machine.	
		X
	I Understand - Install License	
	Cancel and take no action	

In the dedicated field, enter the license key and press the following button:



The license installation will be started:

License Add		_ 🗆 ×
Enter below the serial r	number you wish to register to this machine.	
This serial number is cu "OTBFMkJBNjY3NEY1", this machine. If you cho re-assigned to this mac next licensing period.	rrently assigned to a machine ID of and upon clicking OK the license shall be bou cose to complete this operation, the license w chine and will not be able to move again until	und to vill be the
License details		
Product:	Cinegy Player	
Product Description:	Professional Broadcast Media Player	
Licensee Name:	cinegy.	
Expiry:	<never></never>	
	I Understand - Install License	
	Cancel and take no action	

Details on the license being installed (product name, license owner, and expiration date, etc.) are displayed during the installation.

The message below will notify that the license has been added successfully:



Once the license is installed, you can go back to the main page of the application to see all active licenses added to your machine:

Cinegy Licen	se Manager 1.0.32.441						_ 🗆 ×
Installed Licer	nses						
Name 3	Licensee		Serial Number		Expiry T	Offline Days	
Cinegy Playe	er cinegy		56c6eca3-98d4-48b	e-9dad-1ed5b	<never></never>	29	
	Details			Refresh		Add licen	se
	1						
	Refresh	ess the "Refres	sh" button to updat	te the license list.			
	Refreshing your lic	onco lict ic u	soful when trouble	eshooting any problem	ome vou	may face or if	ou have
i	extended the licens	CHISC HSLIS US		eshooting any probl	enis you	Inay lace of It	you nave

extended the license.

Details

Details

Press the "Details" button to view the license information:

License Details	×
Name:	Cinegy Player 2.x C^2
Description:	Professional Broadcast Media Player
Licensee:	cinegy
Serial No:	56c6eca3-98d4-48be-9dad-1ed5ba025d1c
Machine ID:	e00da41163c9d671229ccba24e9b9ca601
Expiry:	<never></never>
Last Renewed:	6/7/2017 6:42:22 PM
	Download the latest version
Delete	Force Refresh Close
Delete Pres	s the "Delete" button to remove the license from the machine.

To upgrade Cinegy License Manager to the latest version, press "Download the latest version".

Chapter 2. Handling Cinegy Player PRO

2.1. Interface

Cinegy Player PRO started for the first time looks as follows:



To resize the window, place the mouse pointer to any side or corner and drag-and-drop the arrow to fit the desired size. After changing the window size and closing the player, next time when launching the player its window size is restored from the previous session. To open the full screen mode or exit it, double-click the top panel of the window. The same actions can be performed by clicking the player sign on the player top panel and choosing the corresponding command from the menu:



The player interface consists of 5 parts:

- timecode panel on top;
- player screen;
- audio VU meters on the right;
- ruler for navigating through the material below the screen;
- playback control panel on the bottom.

2.2. Opening Footages

Opening a Video File

To open a video file, press the video in the bottom left corner, or just drag-and-drop a file from Explorer straight into the player screen:



You can also right-click anywhere the player screen and choose the "Open file" command from the context menu:



Select the video file to be played from the common "Open" dialog:



When the file is open, the window automatically adjusts to its aspect. If you open a file, the format of which is not supported by Cinegy Player PRO, the following error message appears:



Refer to the Supported File Formats table to learn about Cinegy Player PRO supported video file formats.

Opening a URL

 \bigcirc

To open a video stream from a URL, right-click anywhere within the player screen and choose the "Open URL" context menu command:

Open file
Open URL
Open container

The following dialog box appears:

Enter URL		×
Please enter the HTTP, RTP or UDP URL to stream (e.g. rtp://	/@239.1.1.1:1234	1)
	Cancel	ОК

Enter the URL of the RTP / UDP or choose the HTTP source using the integrated stream browser; then press "OK" or simply hit the Enter key.



B

The HTTP protocol is only available for Cinegy Route virtual destinations.

The integrated stream browser is only available with Cinegy Route Browser installed and available on the machine running Cinegy Player PRO.

The system will remember the URL addresses you have opened. So when you start typing a new one, the system checks the previous data and if the URL is recognized, it suggests the available address(es):



Opening a Container

Cinegy Player PRO can play Panasonic P2 media files from physical or virtual P2 cards. To open a Panasonic P2 memory card, right-click anywhere within the player screen and choose the "Open container" context menu command:

Open file	
Open URL	
Open container	2
	-

The following dialog box appears:

Open container							
Contain	er						
Туре	Panas	onic P2					~
Path							
Clips							
lcon		Video	Audio	ID	Start Timecode	Duration	Source

P

....

Only the "Panasonic P2" container type is currently supported.

Press this button to browse for the P2 card; the following "Browse for Folder" dialog box appears:

Browse For Folder				
Select Folder with virtual disk source				
📃 Desktop				
> 🧥 OneDrive				
> 🤱 User				
> 💻 This PC				
> 🐂 Libraries				
> 💣 Network				
> 🖭 Control Panel				
👔 Recycle Bin				
, Footages				
New folder				
player				
, test				
OK Cance				

Navigate to the local or network folder storing the P2 card content and press "OK". The content of the selected P2 source will be loaded:

Open container ×								
Containe	Container							
Туре	Type Panasonic P2							\sim
Path \\ZT-FOOTAGES\Video\P2_OP-Atom\P2 From NAB2010\AAT09H0732								
Clips								
Icon		Video	Audio	ID	Start Timecode	Duration	Source	^
No				0001XB	07:55:51:23	00:00:25:24	\\ZT-FOOTA	
No Icon				0002ZL	07:56:17:22	00:00:53:17	\\ZT-FOOTA	
No Icon				0003F7	07:57:11:14	00:02:02:17	\\ZT-FOOTA	
No Icon				000483	07:59:14:06	00:01:01:01	\\ZT-FOOTA	
No				0005XC	08:00:15:07	00:01:16:16	\\ZT-FOOTA	
1		·	~~~~~					¥

The path to the P2 source can also be entered manually via the keyboard.

The "Video" and "Audio" columns display the icons informing user about availability of the audio and video content for each P2 clip. The number in a gray circle corresponds to the number of video and audio tracks respectively. A red circle with "0" means that audio and/or video is not available:

lcon	Video	Audio	ID	Start Timecode	Duration	Source	^
No Icon		C 4	00010X	09:06:51:26	00;00;06;19	C:\Users\ba	
No Icon			0002H0	09:06:58:15	00;00;15;23	C:\Users\ba	

Unavailable Footage

In rare cases of missing codecs or incorrect decoding as well as the absence of both audio and video P2 clip content, the "Media Offline" message can appear:



2.3. Controlling Playback

There are various ways to control video and audio playback in Cinegy Player Pro.

Playback Control Using Mouse

Play / Stop Button

- The "Play" button starts the playback.
- When the file is being played, press the "Stop" button, which replaces the "Play" button, to stop the playback.

You can also click anywhere on the screen to pause the clip – the cursor turns into a pause sign:



Navigating through the Material

A ruler below the player screen allows you to navigate to any desired clip position. You can view any frame of the material by dragging the time slider or by clicking any position on the ruler:

Setting and Deleting Marks In and Out

Press the "In" button to set a mark In.

٦

To remove a mark In, press the "Delete In" button (inversed In).



Press the "Out" button to set a mark Out.

To remove a mark Out, press the "Delete Out" button (inversed Out).

Jumping to Events

You can use the "Jump to Event" buttons to move from event to event. Events are the beginning and the end of a clip, as well as marks In and Out.



Use the "Previous Event" button to jump to the previous event.

Use the "Next Event" button to jump to the next event.

Shuttling Using the Mouse in the Player

To shuttle through the material with the mouse, horizontally drag the time slider in the frame window of the player. The playback speed and direction depends on the intensity and direction of your drag:

- · drag to the right to play forward;
- drag to the left to play backward.

You can use the mouse wheel to scroll frames in the video player.

Using the Jog-Shuttle

-



Cinegy Player Pro supports any jog-shuttle device, which can emulate the keyboard input. Refer to the documentation of your jog-shuttle device to find out how to configure the shortcuts. To program some special functions, Cinegy Player Pro provides additional "hidden" shortcuts, which can found in the following table:

Shortcut	Play backward (speed)
Shift+Ctrl+Alt+Q	12.5%
Shift+Ctrl+Alt+W	25%
Shift+Ctrl+Alt+E	50%
Shift+Ctrl+Alt+R	100%
Shift+Ctrl+Alt+T	200%
Shift+Ctrl+Alt+Y	400%
Shift+Ctrl+Alt+U	16000%
Shift+Ctrl+Alt+I	64000%

Playback Control Using the Keyboard

Play / Stop Using the Keyboard

The following keys are used control the playback:

- to toggle the play / stop mode, hit the Space bar;
- to loop play from In to Out, hit the 6 key;
- to go to start, hit the Y key;
- to go to end, hit the U key;
- to go to the previous event, hit the A key;
- to go to the next event, hit the S key;
- the Q key takes you to mark In;

• the W key takes you to mark Out.

Shuttling through the Video Material

Cinegy Player Pro allows you to shuttle through the material at different speed.

J-K-L Shuttle

You can shuttle through the material by using the J-K-L keys on the keyboard. Use the following keys to shuttle:

- · hit the L key to move forward through the footage at normal speed;
- hit the J key to move backward at normal speed;
- hit the K key to pause the shuttling;
- hit the L or J key several times to increase the speed according to the following table:

Hit the J or L key	To play at speed	PAL rate	NTSC rate
2 times	2x normal speed	50 fps	54.94 fps
3 times	3x normal speed	75 fps	89.91 fps
4 times	5x normal speed	125 fps	149.85 fps
5 times	8x normal speed	200 fps	339.76 fps
6 times	12x normal speed	300 fps	359.64 fps
7 times	16x normal speed	400 fps	479.52 fps

Home, End, and Arrow Keys

Additionally you can use the following keys on your keyboard to navigate through the entire clip:

- the Home key takes you to the beginning of the clip;
- the End key takes you to the end of the clip;
- the Ctrl+Left Arrow or 3 key moves one frame backward;
- the Ctrl+Right Arrow or 4 key moves one frame forward;
- hitting 1 moves 10 frames backward;
- hitting 2 moves 10 frames forward.

Working with Marks In and Out

You can use the following shortcuts to work on your marks In and Out:

- the or E keys set up mark In;
- the O or R keys set up mark Out;
- the D key sets mark In to start position;
- the F key sets mark Out to end position;
- the G key deletes both In and Out marks;
- the 6 key loop plays from In to Out;
- the 5 key loop plays a two-second range with the playhead position as its center.

Selecting the Tracks for Playback

Use the track selectors to choose the tracks you want to play. The track selector shows video and audio channels available in the clip.



Depress the corresponding "Audio" button(s) to switch off unnecessary audio track(s).

S1



Only audio playback; the viewer shows the waveform of all audio channels



The waveform shows all the enabled channels mixed together.

2.4. Audio VU Meter



• Green - below 0 dB

+20

+12

0

-10

-20

-30

40

-50

60

|**=**]

- Yellow 0 to 4 dB
- Red above 4 dB

In addition, there are integrated (1000 ms) levels shown with the white bars. At the top of the scale, there is an additional color indicator. It shows the integrated status of the signal (during approximately the last 1.5 seconds). The following states are indicated (note, the value here is absolute, in dBFS, or dB Full Scale):

- Black digital silence (below -120 dBFS)
- Green signal below -6 dBFS
- Red signal above -6 dBFS

At the bottom of the scale, there are two speaker buttons that you can use to mute audio channel(s). To mute an individual left/right audio channel, press the corresponding speaker button or both buttons to mute both audio channels simultaneously.

The typical parameter values in broadcasting are -20 dB for NTSC and -18 dB for PAL.

2.5. Working with Timecodes

When working with video material, it is efficient to use timecodes on order to identify the start and end of video files as well as separate frames.

Understanding the Timecode of the System Events

The End and Out events are related to the end of the respective frame. All the other events (Start, In, current time, etc.) are at the beginning of the respective frame.



Therefore, if you mark the same frame as In and Out, duration of the segment will be 1 frame. That is why if you navigate to the end of a clip, the End mark is always displayed 1 frame greater than the current time.

The timecodes are displayed on the top panel of the player window.

00:00:08:03 Abs 7 Dur 00:01:02:09 7 Start 00:00:00:00

The middle timecode shows the clip duration. The other two counters show the original timecode and the default start time of the clip; it is possible to change them if necessary.

Press the ∇ button to open the list of available display modes:

00:00:16:12 Abs ⊽			
	Absolute		
	Duration		
	Start		
	In		
	Out		
	End		
	None		

The functions of the display modes are described in the given table:

Display Mode	Function
Absolute	Timecode for every frame corresponding to the original material
Duration	Clip duration
Start	Start timecode
In	In timecode
Out	Out timecode
End	End timecode
None	No display

Using Timecode to Find a Frame

Any time during preview, you can enter a timecode value (using the numeric keypad on the right side of the keyboard) to navigate to a specific frame within a clip. In addition, you can cue forward and backward from the current position of the clip by a specified number of minutes, seconds and frames using positive or negative frame offset values.

• To cue to a frame based on a known timecode, enter the timecode using the numeric keypad. You can also enter the timecode value into the corresponding field on the timecodes panel.

00:08:38:03 Abs ⊽ Dur 00:01:02:09 ⊽ Start 00:08:30:00

- To cue forward from the current position, enter + and the offset amount using the numeric keypad.
- To cue backward from the current position, enter and the offset amount using the numeric keypad.



In the example above, the current viewing position will be moved forward to 2 seconds and 15 frames

2.6. Start / End Clip Hints

When you are at the very first or very last frame of the footage, the Cinegy Player PRO displays a hint marker on the frame.

Start frame marker

End frame marker



When both hints are displayed simultaneously, this means that the clip is empty.



This feature can be enabled / disabled in the "Preferences" dialog.

2.7. Aspect and Video Image Size

When a video file is loaded to the player, the window fits its aspect automatically. However, you can manage the aspect ratio of the footage and the video image size according to your needs with the help of the corresponding commands available from

the "Aspect" and "Zoom" context menu.

Aspect Ratio Changing

From the "Aspect" context menu command, select 4:3 or 16:9 aspect ratio, or choose "Default" for the original aspect ratio of the clip to be used. The current aspect ratio value is marked with a tick:





If the selected aspect ratio value does not match the original aspect ratio of the clip, the image will be distorted.

Video Image Size Changing

To view the clip in original size, select 100% from the "Zoom" context menu command. The current zoom value is marked:



2.8. Export

MCRItem XML

The currently loaded media file can be exported into the MCRItem XML file with titlers, effects, pictures and voice-overs inside, if any.

To do this, use the "Export" > "MCRItem XML" context menu option:

Aspect	•	
Zoom	•	
Export	•	BXF Media Update 🕨
Media info		MCRItem XML
Analyze MXF (beta)		13

The common "Save as" dialog box appears:

Save as			×
$\leftarrow \rightarrow \checkmark \uparrow \square$ > This PC	> Work (E:) > footages	✓ ♂ Se	earch footages 🔎
Organize 🔻 New folder			EE 🔻 🔟 ?
Downloads Recent Places My Skype Receiv Libraries Documents Music Pictures Subversion Videos	Name !_new Audio MediaUpdate New_file	∧ Date 5/26/2017 11:33 5/26/2017 12:13 5/26/2017 11:48 5/25/2017 10:17	Type AM XML Document PM XML Document AM XML Document AM XML Document
P Computer Local Disk (C:) New Volume (D:) Local Disk (G:)	۲		Þ
File name:			~
Save as type: MCRItem F	ile (*.mcritem)		~
∧ Hide Folders		Ε	Save Cancel

Navigate to a dedicated folder and enter a file name into the text field. Press the "Save" button to create the ".MCRItem" file with the specified name.



 \odot

*.MCRItems are commonly used in the Cinegy Air software.

Refer to the **Adding Items to Playlist** article in the **Cinegy Air Manual** to learn how to add the *.MCRItems to the Cinegy Air playlist.

BXF Media Update

This feature allows user to create a BXF Media Update message from the currently loaded media file. To do this, use the "Export" > "BXF Media Update" > "Save BXF Media Update File" context menu option:

Aspect Zoom	+		
Export	•	BXF Media Update , 🕨	Save BXF Media Update File
Media info Analyze MXF (beta)		MCRItem XML ゆ	

The common "Save as" dialog box appears:

Save as			×
$\leftarrow \rightarrow \cdot \uparrow$ his PC	> Work (E:) > footages	✓ ³ Searce	h footages 🔎
Organize 🔻 New folder			:::
Downloads Cecent Places My Skype Receiv Libraries Documents Music Pictures Subversion	Name !_new Audio MediaUpdate New_file	 ▲ ▲ ► ■ /ul>	Type XML Document XML Document XML Document XML Document
Videos Computer Local Disk (C:) New Volume (D:) Local Disk (G:)	<		•
File name:			~
Save as type: XML F XML File BXF File BXF File	ile(*.xml) ie (*.xml) e (*.bxf)		~
All File	5 (*.*)		

Navigate to a dedicated folder and enter a file name into the text field. You can select either XML or BXF file type for the media file to be saved in. Press the "Save" button to create the file with the name and type you have specified.

2.9. Media Information

It is possible to view the media information about the footage, if there is any available. To do this, select the "Media info" command from right-click context menu:

Media info	
Media segments	
Analyze MXF (beta)	
Show VANC	
Closed Caption	
Preferences	
About	

The media information about the video file is displayed in the following window:

►	MediaInfo		_		×
•	â, a la companya de				
~	General				
	Creation time	05/23/2017 12:	23:43		
	File name	E:\footages\Plan	net Eart	h.avi	
	File size	694.6655			
~	Video				
	Aspect	704:400			
	Display size	704x400			
	Duration	00:49:14:04			
	Frame size	704x400			
	Framerate	25			
	Initial timecode	00:00:00:00			
Ge	neral				

The "MediaInfo" window contains general information about the file, its location, creation time and size, as well as detailed information such as original aspect, duration, frame size, framerate, etc.



Use these buttons to switch between categorized and alphabetical view of the media information.

2.10. Analyzing MXF



This functionality is in beta stage.

Select the "Analyze MXF" command from the context menu:

Media info	
Analyze MXF (beta)	
Show VANC	45
Closed Caption	•
Preferences	
About	

Select the MXF media file; the following window will show the result of MXF analyzing and generate the log:

Analyze MXF (beta) —	×
Result	
- <s377mmux:mxffile xmlns:as-<br="" xmlns:s377mgroups="http://www.smpte-
ra.org/schemas/434/2006/groups/S377M/2011" xmlns:s377mmux="http://www.smpte-
ra.org/schemas/434/2006/multiplex/S377M/2011" xmlns:s377mtypes="http://www.smpte-
ra.org/schemas/434/2006/types/S377M/2011" xmlns:xs="http://www.smpte-
ra.org/schemas/434/2006/properties/S335M">11Groups="http://www.smpte-ra.org/schemas/434/2006/groups/AS-11/2012" xmlns:s422mGroups="http://www.smpte-ra.org/schemas/434/2006/groups/S422M/2006" xmlns:s422mTypes="http://www.smpte-ra.org/schemas/434/2006/types/S422M/2006" xmlns:s380mGroups="http://www.smpte-ra.org/schemas/434/2006/types/S422M/2006" xmlns:s436mGroups="http://www.smpte-ra.org/schemas/434/2006/groups/S380M/2004" xmlns:s436mGroups="http://www.smpte-ra.org/schemas/434/2006/groups/S436M/2006" xmlns:s436mGroups="http://www.smpte-ra.org/schemas/434/2006/groups/S380M/2004" xmlns:s436mGroups="http://www.smpte-ra.org/schemas/434/2006/groups/S436M/2006" xmlns:AS- 03Groups="http://www.smpte-ra.org/schemas/434/2006/groups/S436M/2006" xmlns:AS- 03Groups="http://www.smpte-ra.org/schemas/434/2006/groups/S436M/2006" xmlns:AS- 03Groups="http://www.smpte-ra.org/schemas/434/2006/groups/S436M/2006" xmlns:AS- 03Groups="http://www.smpte-ra.org/schemas/434/2006/groups/S436M/2006" xmlns:AS- 03Groups="http://www.smpte-ra.org/schemas/434/2006/groups/S385M/2004"</s377mmux:mxffile>	<
<	>
Validate as: AS-03 Validate Save XML	
15:52:12.6763787 (I): LocalTag '3F.0B' resolved to '06.0E.2B.34.01.01.01.05.05.30.04.06.00.00.00' using static local tags table. 15:52:12.6773749 (I): LocalTag '3F.0C' resolved to '06.0E.2B.34.01.01.01.05.07.02.01.03.01.0A.00.00' using static local tags table. 15:52:12.6783963 (I): LocalTag '3F.0C' resolved to '06.0E.2B.34.01.01.01.05.07.02.01.03.01.0A.00.00' using static local tags table. 15:52:12.6783963 (I): LocalTag '3F.0C' resolved to '06.0E.2B.34.01.01.01.05.07.02.01.03.01.0A.00.00' using static local tags table. 15:52:12.6793749 (I): LocalTag '3F.0D' resolved to '06.0E.2B.34.01.01.01.05.07.02.02.01.01.02.00.00' using static local tags table. 15:52:12.6814172 (I): LocalTag '3F.0D' resolved to '06.0E.2B.34.01.01.01.05.07.02.02.01.01.02.00.00' using static local tags table. 15:52:12.6824006 (I): LocalTag '3F.0D' resolved to '06.0E.2B.34.01.01.01.05.07.02.02.01.01.02.00.00' using static local tags table. 15:52:12.6834006 (I): LocalTag '3F.05' resolved to '06.0E.2B.34.01.01.01.04.04.06.02.01.00.00.00' using static local tags table. 15:52:12.6834006 (I): LocalTag '3F.05' resolved to '06.0E.2B.34.01.01.01.05.07.02.01.00.00.00' using static local tags table. 15:52:12.6834006 (I): LocalTag '3F.05' resolved to '06.0E.2B.34.01.01.01.05.04.04.04.00.00.00' using static local tags table. 15:52:12.6854009 (I): LocalTag '3F.05' resolved to '06.0E.2B.34.01.01.01.05.04.04.04.00.00.00' using static local tags table. 15:52:12.6854009 (I): LocalTag '3F.05' resolved to '06.0E.2B.34.01.01.01.05.04.04.04.01.06.00.00.00' using static local tags table. 15:53:50.5935562 (I): Last partition: Resolving references 15:53:50.5935562 (I): Last partition: Resolving references '36.71.C8.89.B5.D7.78.4D.B1.3A.75.C0.EC.7D.6A.32'! 15:53:50.5985583 (IV): Failed to resolve object reference '36.71.C8.89.B5.D7.78.4D.B1.3A.75.C0.EC.7D.6A.32'! 15:53:50.5985585 (I): Finished parsing the MXF file.	^
<	>

A progress bar shows the analyzing process progress:

In the "Validate as" field choose one of the two available options - AS-03 or AS-11.

Validate

Press this button to validate the analyzing results.

Save XML

Press this button to save the *.xml format file; in the launched window specify the desired location the file will be saved to.

2.11. VANC Data Display

Cinegy Player PRO can be set up to show the VANC data indicators. To enable this function, select the "Show VANC" option from the Cinegy Player PRO context menu:

Media info
Analyze MXF (beta)
Show VANC
Closed Caption
Preferences
About

If a clip contains VANC data, the VANC indicators will display the corresponding values:



- CC (Closed Captions) indicates if closed captions are present in the current media file.
- AFD (Active Format Description) displays the active picture's aspect ratio.
- PR (Parental Rating) displays the TV parental guidelines rating of the current media content.

2.12. Closed Captioning

Cinegy Player PRO supports closed captions decoding and display. To enable this function, use the "Closed Caption" option from the context menu and choose the way to encode your closed captioning by selecting CEA-608 or CEA-708 from the drop-down list. Depending on the defined format, choose the number of the track or service from which closed captions will be decoded:

Media info		
Analyze MXF (beta)		
Show VANC		
Closed Caption 🕨	None	
Preferences	CEA-608 🔶	CC1
About	CEA-708 ¹ √3 ►	CC2
		CC3
		CC4

The corresponding closed captions will be displayed:



2.13. Preferences

To configure Cinegy Player PRO and enable Cinegy Player PRO features, select the "Preferences" command from the context menu:



The following "Cinegy Player PRO Preferences" dialog appears:

Cinegy Player PRO Preferences	×
Player Pro Options	
Show start / end visual marker overlay	
Output over SDI board DVS Centaurus II or Atomix / Atomix LT	
Enable web service APIs	
Enable BXF Media Updates webservice via URL:	
GPU Decoding Acceleration	
Disabled	
 NVidia H264 / HEVC (HEVC on Maxwell boards and later) Intel QuickSync H264 	
Cinegy Systemwide Global Options (shared with other Cinegy applications)	
Blackmagic SDI Default TV format HD PAL 1920x1080 25 Hz $$	
OK Cancel	

Here you can set up the following parameters:

• Show start / end visual marker overlay - enable / disable the start and end hints in Cinegy Player PRO.



Refer to the Start / End Clip Hints article for more information.

- Output over SDI board choose the required SDI board for output from the drop-down list.
- Enable web service APIs enable / disable to perform Cinegy Player PRO control actions via API.
- Enable BXF Media Updates webservice via URL enable / disable BXF files submission directly to Myers BXF Web Service.
- GPU Decoding Acceleration enable / disable GPU acceleration. To activate, select the required GPU video encoder type from the list below.
- Blackmagic SDI default TV format define a default TV format to be used for output over the Blackmagic SDI board.

Chapter 3. About Cinegy Player PRO

Cinegy Player PRO is a user-friendly and easy-to-handle tool due to the industry standard keyboard shortcuts and intuitive interface. These features make it unexpendable for modern professional broadcasting.

3.1. About Cinegy Player PRO

Right-click anywhere within the player window and choose the "About" command from the context menu:

Open file	
Open URL	
Open container	
Aspect	Þ
Zoom	F
Export	Þ
Media info	
Media segments	
Analyze MXF (beta)	
Show VANC	
Closed Caption	۲
Preferences	
About 💦	

This will open the window with information about the product version, your computer name, and the table with hot keys and their description:

		CinQJJ Player PRO	
Cin	egy Play	er PRO Version: 2.0.52.607	
Co	mputer N	ame: ZT-64	
Hotk	eys		
	Key	Description	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
•	F12	Set fullscreen mode	
	Esc	Exit fullscreen mode	
	Space	Play 1.0 speed/Pause	
	1	Go back 10 frames	
	2	Go forward 10 frames	
	3, Ctrl+Left	Go back 1 frame	
	4, Ctrl+Right	Go forward 1 frame	
	5	Play 2 seconds loop starting from slider position	
	6	Play in-out	
	Ctrl+6	Play in-out only once	
			Advanced

Your computer name is given in the respective field:

Computer Name:	ZT-64

E

This is a read-only field; copying content to clipboard is allowed.

Advanced Press the "Advanced" button to show / hide the assembly information.

	File name	Internal name	Version	^
•	Cinecoder.dll	Cinecoder	3.27.37.11256	
	Cinecoder.Interop.dll	Cinecoder.Interop	3.27.0.0	
	Cinecoder.Plugin.Codecs.dll	Cinecoder.Plugin.Codecs	1.0.70.127	
	Cinecoder.Plugin.Codecs.Interop.dll	Cinecoder.Plugin.Codecs.Interop.dll	1.0.70.127	
	Cinecoder.Plugin.GpuCodecs.dll	Cinecoder.Plugin.GpuCodecs	2.14	
	Cinecoder.Plugin.GpuCodecs.Interop.dll	Cinecoder.Plugin.GpuCodecs.Interop.dll	1.2.15.9922	
	Cinecoder.Plugin.Subtitling.dll	Cinecoder.Plugin.Subtitling	1.4.0.82	
	Cineay.MXF.Core.dll	Cineav.MXF.Core.dll	2.0.28.2796	×

The information is given in a table consisting of three columns that contain the file name, internal name, and version number.

Find the full list of hotkeys and their descriptions in the Shortcuts article.

Chapter 4. Shortcuts

Key	Description	Key	Description
F12	Set fullscreen mode	К	Pause
Esc	Exit fullscreen mode	J	Play backward
Space	Play 1.0 speed/Pause	L	Play forward
1	Go back 10 frames	E	Set mark in
2	Go forward 10 frames	R	Set mark out
3, Ctrl+Left	Go back 1 frame	D	Set mark in to start position
4, Ctrl+Right	Go forward 1 frame	F	Set mark out to end position
5	Play 2 seconds loop starting from slider position	G	Clear mark in / mark out
6	Play in-out	Α	Go to previous search event
Ctrl+6	Play in-out only once	S	Go to next search event
Y, Home	Go to start	Q	Go to mark in
U, End	Go to end	W	Go to mark out

Hotkey	Description
F12	Full-screen playback
Esc	Exit full-screen playback mode
Space	Start playing. Hit this key again to toggle the playback.
1	Move 10 frames backward
2	Move 10 frames forward
3 or Ctrl+Left Arrow	Move 1 frame backward
4 or Ctrl+Right Arrow	Move 1 frame forward
5	Play a two-second range in a loop
6	Play the range from the In point to the Out point in a loop
Ctrl+6	Play the range from the In point to the Out point once
Y or Home	Jump to the beginning of a clip
U or End	Jump to the end of a clip
К	Pause the playback
J	Move backwards at normal speed
L	Move forward at normal speed
E	Set In point at the current position
R	Set Out point at the current position
D	Set In point at the clip start
F	Set In point at the clip end
G	Clear the In point / Out point
A	Jump to the previous search event
S	Jump to the next search event
Q	Jump to the In point

Hotkey	Description
W	Jump to the Out point

Cinegy Player PRO REST API (PDF)

Chapter 5. The Cinegy Player PRO REST API manual in PDF: